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The directors of Globe Metals & Mining Limited (‘Globe’ or ‘the Company’) hereby submit their report of the Company and its 
controlled entities (‘the Group’) for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.  

DIRECTORS 

The names and particulars of the Directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year are: 

Alice Wong  Non-Executive Chairperson  
Alistair Stephens Deputy Chairperson, Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer  
William Hayden  Non-Executive Director 
Bo Tan Non-Executive Director  
Ricky Lau Non-Executive Director (Appointed on 14 December 2020) 
Alex Ko   Non-Executive Director (Resigned on 14 December 2020) 
 

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. 

COMPANY SECRETARY 

Michael Fry was appointed Company Secretary of Globe on 1 February 2015.  Michael holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from 
the University of Western Australia and has worked in accounting and advisory roles for over 20 years.   

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activities of the Group during the financial year were to explore, develop and invest in the resource sector.  The 
Group’s major project is the Kanyika Niobium Project in Malawi.  

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the current year. 

RESULTS 

The consolidated loss after providing for income tax of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2021 amounted to $1.378 million 
(2020: $1.449 million).  The COVID-19 pandemic has had no direct material impact on the result. 

MINERAL TENEMENTS 

The Group’s interests in mineral tenements as at the date of this report are as follows: 

(i) Large-Scale Mining Licence Number LML0216/21 has been issued to Globe Metals & Mining (Africa) Limited dated 13 
August 2021.  The licence is valid for twenty-five (25) years.   

Note:   EPL: Exclusive Prospecting Licence (Malawi) 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

Globe Metals and Mining Limited (Globe) is an Australian registered public company and has been listed on the ASX since December 
2005 (ASX: GBE).  

The Company’s sole asset and focus is its Kanyika Niobium Project. The Company has an administration and operational centre in 
Lilongwe, Malawi in support of its on-the-ground activities at Kanyika.  The Malawi operations are supported from Globe’s 
corporate head office in Midvale, Western Australia.    

Consistent with the strategy outlined by the Chairperson in her Address in the 2020 Annual Report, the Group has focussed its 
efforts in the 2021 financial year on the grant of a mining licence for the Kanyika Niobium Project and on the ongoing development 
of its intellectual property, which has involved additional studies and registration of various patents. 

Kanyika Niobium Project  

Overview 

Globe identified niobium and tantalum mineralisation in 2007 at Kanyika.  Niobium and tantalum are key additives in steel 
manufacture and electronics.  Subsequent drilling confirmed the mineralisation leading to an extensive exploration and 
metallurgical test-work program.  A scoping study in 2008 and further drilling led to a feasibility study in 2012 and the release of a 
JORC (2004) Mineral Resource Estimate in January 2013 (refer below). 

During 2013, Globe commissioned metallurgical optimisation work, and subsequently in 2014 commissioned a pilot plant to 
demonstrate and further optimise metallurgical processes. 

 

Project Location Status Tenement Globe’s interest 

Kanyika Niobium (i) Malawi Granted LML0216/21 100% 

Kanyika Exploration Malawi Granted EPL0421/15R2  100% 
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Feasibility Study 

In February 2018, Globe commenced work aimed at updating and finalising the technical components of the engineering program 
in order to support project funding initiatives and in light of the changing outlook for the mining and resources industry, and in 
particular for niobium. To facilitate this, the Company advised it had engaged specialists to revise and update the previous 
engineering study to incorporate the findings and outcomes of the pilot plant work undertaken and other necessary engineering 

design changes. 

In January 2019, Globe advised that it had finalised the revision of all studies and plans, such that the technical programs associated 

with the mineral resource, mining, metallurgical studies, processing, engineering design and infrastructural support are all done to 

a technical detail that is satisfactory to engineering classification standards.   

In addition, Globe advised that it had obtained updated capital and operating cost estimates through a tender process that was 

undertaken independent of Globe, and had updated its financial model for revised capital costs, revenues and operating costs in 

order to determine key metrics including but not limited to project revenue, profitability and payback; noting that confidential and 

internal metrics on the value proposition of the project were highly encouraging. 

Following the grant of the Mining Licence in mid-August 2021, Globe has publicly released the results of its Feasibility Study and 
Key Economics.  Refer ASX announcement of 19 August 2021. 

Product Marketing and Off-Take 

Globe’s marketing and off-take initiatives remained largely on hold during the financial year awaiting grant of the mining licence. 
Post 30 June 2021, the Company appointed Mr Benny Tsung to the position of President of Global Sales and Marketing, to lead its  
marketing and off-take efforts, and with the receipt of the Mining Licence in mid-August 2021 work has commenced in earnest. 

Mining Licence Grant 

The Kanyika Exclusive Prospecting Licence (EPL0188) was due for expiry at the end of December 2014.  In early December 2014, 
Globe applied for a Mining Licence.  Globe received notification in June 2015 from Malawi Ministry of Natural Resources, Energy & 
Mining (MMNREM) that its application for a Mining Lease, currently registered as AML0026, was approved subject to completion 
of a Development Agreement.   

Subsequently, progress on the Development Agreement slowed as Malawi set about adopting a new Mines and Minerals Act (2018), 
(new Mines Act) which was adopted with effect from 1 September 2019.   

Pursuant to the requirements of the new Mines Act, Globe made an updated application for a mining licence to be granted which 
was reviewed and recommended for approval by Malawi Government’s Mineral Resources Committee in June 2021.  This then 
facilitated the Company being granted a mining licence for the Kanyika Niobium Project, with the Company being formally issued, 
post year end, on 16 August 2021, with Large Scale Mining Licence No. ML0216/21.  The Mining Licence confers on Globe the 
exclusive right to prospect and mine for a term of a 25 years. 

Project Development and Financing 

Following the update of all engineering designs and drawings in January 2019, the Kanyika Project remains ready for development 
subject to execution of the Development Agreement and marketing and finance. During the year, the executive team continued to 
advance plans and have advanced discussions with regulators and other stakeholders as regards project development and to 
examine opportunities for project enhancement, including reconfiguration of project arrangements.  In addition, the executive 
team continued its dialogue with various parties regarding marketing and financing; although it is noted that the ongoing delay 
with grant of the mining licence,  execution of the Development Agreement and the impacts of COVID-19 pandemic has prevented 
the executive team from meeting face to face with these parties delaying progress in this area.  

Statement of Mineral Resources 

On 11 July 2018, Globe published an updated Mineral Resource Estimate for the Kanyika Niobium Project (KNP) calculated in 
accordance with 2012 JORC guidelines.  

The resource calculated was unchanged from the previous Mineral Resource Estimate published on 7 January 2011, calculated in 
accordance with the 2004 JORC guidelines, and is as follows: 

Category 
Size 
(Mt) 

Nb2O5 Grade 
(ppm) 

Ta2O5 Grade 
(ppm) 

U3O8 Grade 
(ppm) 

Measured 5.3 3,790 180 110 

Indicated 47.0 2,860 135 80 

Inferred 16.0 2,430 120 70 

Total 68.3 2,830 135 80 

Table 1: Mineral Resource Estimate for Kanyika using a 1,500 ppm Nb2O5 cut-off grade 

No additions or changes have been made to the Mineral Resource Estimate since it was last published. 
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Intellectual Property 

Intellectual property (IP) developed as part of the KNP feasibility study and subsequent optimisation work has been consolidated 
into provisional patent applications that have been filed with IP Australia and with African Regional Intellectual Property 
Organisation (ARIPO).  

COVID-19  

As the world learns to operate with COVID-19 ever present, Globe and its personnel have adapted to the new way of doing business 
with staff in both Malawi and Western Australia continuing to work largely from their homes, utilising video-conferencing to replace 
the need for face to face meetings. 

Highest precautions are being taken by the Company’s Malawi personnel with the delta strain causing the number infected and the 
number of COVID-19 related deaths in Malawi to rise sharply in recent months.  Fortunately, head office personnel have not been 
impacted to nearly the same extent with Western Australia largely immune to the delta strain to date. 

Globe will continue to place the health of our team, our partners, the community and the countries in which we operate at the 
forefront of all that we do and will continue to follow guidance and directions from health authorities. 

Finance  

• Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2021 of $2.816 million. 

Corporate 

• As at the date of this report, shares on issue total 465,922,373. 

• There are no outstanding options remaining on issue. 

• 2 Substantial Shareholders control a total of 364,126,673 shares or 78.15% of the Company. 

Exploration Results, Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Estimation Governance Statement 

Globe Metals and Mining Limited ensures that exploration results and Mineral Resource estimates are subject to appropriate levels 
of governance, internal controls and external independent review. The exploration results and Mineral Resource estimation of the 
Company’s projects are subject to appropriate procedural controls and systematic internal and external technical review by 
competent and qualified professionals on an as needed basis. These reviews have not identified any material issues undertaken as 
part of a formal risk assessment. The Company periodically reviews the governance framework in line with the business 
expectations. 

Exploration results and Mineral Resource estimates referred to in this report were undertaken in accordance with the Australasian 
Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC) 2012 Edition. Competent persons named by 
the Company are members of the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and are qualified as competent persons as defined 
in the JORC Code. 

Qualifying Statements 

Mineral Resource Estimates 

The information in this report that relates to Mineral Resources is extracted from the report titled “Kanyika Niobium Project – 
Updated JORC Resource Estimate” released to the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) on 11 July 2018 and available to view at 
www.globemm.com and for which Competent Persons’ consents were obtained.  Each Competent Person’s consent remains in place 
for subsequent releases by the Company of the same information in the same form and context, until the consent is withdrawn or 
replaced by a subsequent report and accompanying consent. 

The Company confirms that is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the information included in the 
original ASX announcement released on 11 July 2018 and, in the case of estimates of Mineral Resources, that all material assumptions 
and technical parameters underpinning the estimates in the original ASX announcement continue to apply and have not materially 
changed. The Company confirms that the form and context in which the Competent Persons’ findings are presented have not been 
materially modified from the original ASX announcement. 

Full details are contained in the ASX announcement released on 11 July 2018 titled “Kanyika Niobium Project – Updated JORC 
Resource Estimate” available to view at www.globemm.com 

Competent Person 

The information in this report relating metallurgical evaluation of Mineral Resources is based on information compiled by Dr Marc 
Steffens. Dr Steffens is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (MAusIMM) and is an independent 
consultant to the Company. Dr Steffens has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit 
under consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a “Competent Person”, as defined in the 2012 edition of the 
Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. Dr Steffens consents to the inclusion 
in the report of matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears. 
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Forward Looking Statements 

This report may include forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements 
concerning Globe Metals & Mining Limited’s business plans and other statements that are not historical facts.  When used in this 
report, words such as could-plan-target-estimate-expect-intend-may-potential-should and similar expressions are forward-looking 
statements.  Any forward-looking statements have been prepared on the basis of a number of assumptions which may prove 
incorrect and the current intentions, plans, expectations and beliefs about future events are subject to risks, uncertainties and 
other factors, many of which are outside Globe Metals & Mining Limited’s control. Important factors that could cause actual results 
to differ materially from the assumptions or expectations expressed or implied in this report include known and unknown risks. 
Because actual results could differ materially to the assumptions made and the Company’s current intentions, plans, expectations 
and beliefs about the future, you are urged to view all forward-looking statements with caution. This content should not be relied 
upon as a recommendation or forecast by Globe Metals & Mining Limited. Content within this report should not be construed as 
either an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy or sell shares in any jurisdiction. 
 
INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS  

Alice Wong  Non-Executive Chairperson 

Special Responsibilities  Member of Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Qualifications B. Bus in Accounting and Finance (Hons) 

 Ms Alice Wong is an accountant by training and commenced her career with Price Waterhouse. 
After more than a decade of service in the investment banking industry in Asia working for 
large multinational companies Morgan Stanley, ABN AMRO and BNP Paribas Peregrine, Ms 
Wong extended her entrepreneurial endeavour into luxurious products and health care 
companies.  Ms Wong invested into Globe via Apollo Metals Investment Co. Ltd during 2014 
and has since served as the Non-Executive Chairperson of its Board of Directors where she has 
played an integral role in advancement of the Kanyiak Project including the recent granting of 
a mining licence.   

Ms Wong holds a Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting and Finance (Hons) from 
the University of Hong Kong and is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (AICPA). 

Interest in Shares and Options 245,983,611(1) 

Directorships of other Nil  
ASX Listed Companies in the 
past 3 years  

(1) Ms Wong is the sole shareholder and Director of Apollo Metals Investment Co. Ltd which holds 245,983,611 shares in the Company 

 

Alistair Stephens Deputy Chairperson, Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

Qualifications  Masters of Business Administration  
Bachelor of Science (Honours)  
Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors (GAICD) 
Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy 

Experience  Mr Stephens is a qualified geologist with more than 30 years’ experience in the resources 
industry, in a broad range of technical and corporate management, including corporate 
governance, strategic development and delivery, technical program development, marketing, 
shareholder communications and capital funding. 

Mr Stephens held the position of Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Arafura 
Resources Limited (ASX: ARU) between 2004 and 2009. 

Mr. Stephens commenced his career in gold and copper exploration and development with 
Newmont but orientated most of his career in mining, planning and processing operations in 
gold with Normandy Poseidon and KCGM Pty Ltd and nickel with WMC Resources. He also has 
marketing and commercial experience with Orica Ltd in explosives. 

Interest in Shares and Options  1,325,000 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 

Directorships of other Nil  
ASX Listed Companies in the 
past 3 years  
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William Hayden  Non-Executive Chairperson 

 

Special Responsibilities   Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Member of the Audit and Risk Committee 

Qualifications   B Sc (Hons) 

Experience  Mr Hayden is a geologist with approximately 40 years’ experience in the mineral exploration 
industry, much of which has been in Africa, South America and the Asia-Pacific region. Mr 
Hayden joined Globe as a director in 2009. He currently serves as a director of Ivanhoe Mines 
Ltd (TSX: IVN), Trilogy Metals Inc (TSX: TMQ), Palisades Goldcorp Ltd, and Asia Pacific Mining 
Limited.  

Interest in Shares and Options 1,276,923 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 

Directorships of other  Noble Metals Limited (ASX listed) (resigned January 2019) 
ASX Listed Companies   
In the past 3 years   

 
Bo Tan    Non-Executive Director  

Special Responsibilities   Chairperson of Audit and Risk Committee 

Qualification BEcon - Renmin China, MBA - Thunderbird USA, M.A University of Connecticut 

Experience  Mr Tan has over 15 years’ experience as a senior manager and director in financial planning, 
reporting, investment, capital structure and industrial research; and has worked for 
companies such as Bohai Industrial Investment Fund, Lehman Brothers Asia and Macquarie 
Securities Asia, and across international markets in China, Hong Kong, Canada and USA. 

Interest in Shares and Options Nil 

Directorships of other  Nil  
ASX Listed Companies in the 
past 3 years  

 
Ricky Lau    Non-Executive Director  

Special Responsibilities   Chairperson of Nomination and Remuneration Committee – since 14 December 2020 

Qualifications    MBA Kellogg-HKUST, MB UBC Sauder (Hons) 

Experience Mr Lau has over 20 years’ experience in private equity investment in Asia and is presently the 
Managing Partner of real estate private equity firm Crane Capital Limited. 

Interest in Shares and Options Nil 

Directorships of other  Nil  
ASX Listed Companies in the 
past 3 years  

 
Alex Ko    Non-Executive Director  

Special Responsibilities   Chairperson of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee – prior to 14 December 2020 

Member of the Audit and Risk Committee 

Qualifications    Bachelor Business Administration  

Experience Mr Ko has over 30 years’ experience in finance and investment banking. He has been a 
pioneer in the listing of Chinese equity offers through the Hong Kong exchange including 
many high-profile government and private Chinese companies.  He has held many 
independent non-executive director roles with Hong Kong listed companies in the 
transportation, electronics and environmental protection industries.    

Interest in Shares and Options Nil 

Directorships of other  Nil  
ASX Listed Companies in the 
past 3 years   
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REMUNERATION REPORT - AUDITED 

This remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2021 outlines the remuneration arrangements of the Group in accordance with 
the requirements of Corporations Act 2001 (the Act) and its regulations.  This information has been audited as required by Section 
308(3C) of the Act. 

The remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for Key Management Personnel (KMP) who are defined as those 
persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Group, directly or 
indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the parent. 

For the purposes of this report, the term “executive” includes the Managing Director (MD), executive directors (where applicable) 
and senior executives of the Group. 

  
A. Remuneration Governance 

The Board of Directors has established a Committee for the purpose of reviewing and making recommendations with respect to the 
remuneration practices of the Company.   

The Committee comprises Mr Lau (Chairperson of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee since 14 December 2021), Mr Bill 
Hayden and Ms Alice Wong; all of whom are non-executive directors. 

The Board of Directors has prepared and approved a charter as the basis on which the Committee will be constituted and operated.  
The role of the Committee is to provide a mechanism for the determination, implementation and assessment of the remuneration 
practices of the Company, including remuneration packages and incentive schemes for executive Directors and senior management, 
and fees payable to Non-Executive Directors. 

The Committee is primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board on: 

➢ the overarching executive remuneration framework; 

➢ the operation of incentive plans (if any) which apply to the executive team, including key performance indicators and 
performance hurdles; 

➢ the remuneration levels of executive directors and other KMP; and 

➢ the fees payable to non-executive directors. 

The Committee’s objective is to ensure that remuneration policies and structures are fair and competitive, and aligned with the long-
term interests of the Group. 

The Corporate Governance Statement provides further information on the role of the Remuneration Committee. 
 

B. Remuneration Policy 

The remuneration policy of Globe Metals & Mining Limited and its Controlled Entities has been designed to align Director and 
executive objectives with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component which is assessed on an 
annual basis in line with market rates and offering specific incentives, from time to time, that are based on share price and key 
performance areas affecting the Group’s financial results.  

The Board of Directors of Globe believes the remuneration policy is appropriate and effective in its ability to attract, retain and 
motivate suitably qualified and experienced Directors and executives to run and manage the Group, as well as create goal congruence 
between the Directors, executives and the Company’s shareholders.  
 
C. Remuneration Arrangements 

All executives receive a base salary (which is based on factors such as length of service and experience) and superannuation (in 
accordance with relevant legislation). Executive remuneration may also incorporate a component of performance-based 
remuneration.  

The Board reviews executive packages annually by reference to the Group’s performance, executive performance and comparable 
information from industry sectors and other listed companies in similar industries. 

Non-executive directors are remunerated at market rates for comparable companies for time, commitment and responsibilities. The 
Board determines payments to non-executive directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties 
and accountability. Independent external advice is sought when required. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid 
to non-executive directors is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (currently $600,000).  

The Board of Directors may exercise discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses and options.  

All remuneration paid to Directors and executives is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed. Options are independently 
valued by corporate advisers using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and Monte Carlo option pricing model.  Shares are valued 
at market value.  
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D. Performance Based Remuneration 

The Company believes that linking the remuneration of Directors and executives with performance will be effective in increasing 
shareholder wealth. 
 
From time to time, the Board of Directors may establish performance targets and a bonus system for the purposes of providing 
directors and executives with short-term and long-term performance incentives.  Such incentives are offered to increase goal 
congruence between shareholders and directors and executives.  
 
There are currently no incentive programs in place for financial years ended 30 June 2021 and beyond. 
 
E. Performance Summary 

 
The tables below set out summary information about Globe’s earnings and movements in shareholder wealth for the five years to 

30 June 2021: 

 

 30 June 2021 30 June 2020 30 June 2019 30 June 2018 30 June 2017 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Interest income 23 104 206 239 203 

Comprehensive loss after tax (1,378) (1,449) (1,441) (1,354) (1,651) 

 
 30 June 2021 30 June 2020 30 June 2019 30 June 2018 30 June 2017 

      

Share price at start of year $0.010 $0.015 $0.014 $0.016 $0.022 

Share price at end of year $0.016 $0.010 $0.015 $0.014 $0.016 

Dividend - - - - - 

Basic loss per share ($0.003) ($0.003) ($0.003) ($0.003) ($0.004) 

Diluted loss per share ($0.003) ($0.003) ($0.003) ($0.003) ($0.004) 

 
F. No Hedging Contracts 

The Company does not permit executives to enter into contracts to hedge their exposure to options or performance rights to shares 
granted as part of their remuneration package.  

 
G. Securities Trading Policy 

The Board has in place a Securities Trading Policy to ensure that:  
➢ any dealings in securities by the Directors, employees and contractors comply with legal and regulatory obligations (including 

the prohibition against insider trading); and  
➢ the Company maintains market confidence in the integrity of dealings in its securities.  
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H. Details of Remuneration 

Compensation of key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2021 
 
2021 SHORT-TERM 

BENEFITS 
POST 

EMPLOY-
MENT 

LONG-TERM 
BENEFITS 

SHARE-
BASED 

PAYMENT 

TOTAL SHARE-
BASED 

PAYMENT 

 

Salary & 
Fees 

$ 

Annual 
Leave 

$ 

Super- 
Annuation 

$  

Employee 
Entitlements 

$ 

Options 
 

$ 

 
 

$ 
 

as a %  
of TOTAL 

Directors        
Alice Wong – Chairperson 80,000 - - - - 80,000 0% 
Alistair Stephens - Managing Director & CEO 385,000 20,731 21,694 48,564 - 475,989 0% 
William Hayden - Non-Executive Director 52,968 - 5,032 - - 58,000 0% 
Ricky Lau – Non-Executive Director (1) 30,921 - - - - 30,921 0% 
Bo Tan - Non-Executive Director 58,000 - - - - 58,000 0% 
Alex Ko – Non-Executive Director (2) 28,500 - - - - 28,500 0% 

Total remuneration directors 2021 635,389 20,731 26,726 48,564 - 731,410 0% 

Specified Executives        
Michael Fry – Finance Manager   -   - -   
 

264,000 - - - - 264,000 0% 

Total remuneration specified executives 2021 264,000 - - - - 264,000 0% 

Total key management personnel 2021 899,389 20,731 26,726 48,564 - 995,410 - 
(1) appointed 14 December 2020.  Whilst Mr Lau is entitled to the receipt of director’s fees, he has indicated his likely intention that the fees be 

directed to a charity. 
(2)  resigned 14 December 2020. 

 
Compensation of key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2020 
 
2020 SHORT-TERM 

BENEFITS 
POST 

EMPLOY-
MENT 

LONG-TERM 
BENEFITS 

SHARE-
BASED 

PAYMENT 

TOTAL SHARE-
BASED 

PAYMENT 

 

Salary & 
Fees 

$ 

Annual 
Leave 

$ 

Super- 
Annuation 

$  

Employee 
Entitlements 

$ 

Options 
 

$ 

 
 

$ 

as a %  
of TOTAL 

Directors        
Alice Wong – Chairperson 80,000 - - - - 80,000 0% 
Alistair Stephens - Managing Director & CEO 385,000 59,232 21,003 36,099 - 501,334 0% 
William Hayden - Non-Executive Director 52,968 - 5,032 - - 58,000 0% 
Bo Tan - Non-Executive Director 58,000 - - - - 58,000 0% 
Alex Ko - Non-Executive Director 57,000 - - - - 57,000 0% 

Total remuneration directors 2020 632,968 59,232 26,035 36,099 - 754,334 0% 

Specified Executives        
Michael Fry – Finance Manager   -   - -   
 

264,000 - - - - 264,000 0% 

Total remuneration specified executives 2020 264,000 - - - - 264,000 0% 

Total key management personnel 2020 896,968 59,232 26,035 36,099 - 1,018,334 - 

 
No remuneration consultants have been engaged during the year ended 30 June 2021. 

Compensation options granted to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2021 
There were no options granted to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2021. 
 
Compensation options granted to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2020 
There were no options granted to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2020. 
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Option Holdings of Directors and Key Management Personnel 

The numbers of options over ordinary shares in the Company granted under the executive short-term incentive scheme that were 

held during the financial year by each Director and the KMP of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set out below: 
 

2021 Balance at 
beginning  

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Exercised (Lapsed) Balance at 30 
June 2021 

Exercisable  Not 
Exercisable  

Alice Wong - - - - - - - 
Alistair Stephens - - - - - - - 
William Hayden - - - - - - - 
Bo Tan - - - - - - - 

Ricky Lau (1) - - - - - - - 

Alex Ko (2) - - - - - - - 
Michael Fry - - - - - - - 

 - - - - - - - 
(1) appointed 14 December 2020.   
(2)  resigned 14 December 2020. 

 
 
 

2020 Financial 
year 

awarded 

Number of 
options  

Award 
date 

Fair value 
per option at 
award date 

Vesting date Exercise 
price 

Expiry date Number 
lapsed 

during the 
year 

Balance  
at  

year  
end 

A. Stephens   2014 1,000,000 1 July 2013 - 1 July 2017 $0.25 30 June 2020 1,000,000 - 
 
 

2020 Balance at 
beginning  

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Exercised (Lapsed) Balance at 30 
June 2020 

Exercisable  Not 
Exercisable  

Alice Wong - - - - - - - 
Alistair Stephens 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - - - 
William Hayden - - - - - - - 
Bo Tan - - - - - - - 
Alex Ko - - - - - - - 
Michael Fry - - - - - - - 

 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - - - 

Shareholdings of Director and Key Management Personnel in Listed Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 

The number of shares in the Company that were held during the financial year by each Director and the key management personnel 
of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set out below.   

There were no shares granted during the reporting year as compensation. 
 

2021 Balance at 
beginning  

Granted as 
Remuneration 

On Exercise of 
Options 

Bought & (Sold) Balance at  
30 June 2021 

Alice Wong 245,983,611 - - - 245,983,611 
Alistair Stephens - - - 1,325,000 1,325,000 
William Hayden 1,276,923 - - - 1,276,923 
Bo Tan - - - - - 
Ricky Lau - - - - - 
Alex Ko - - - - - 
Michael Fry - - - - - 

 247,260,534 - - - 248,585,534 
 

2020 Balance at 
beginning  

Granted as 
Remuneration 

On Exercise of 
Options 

Bought & (Sold) Balance at  
30 June 2020 

Alice Wong 245,983,611 - - - 245,983,611 
Alistair Stephens - - - - - 
William Hayden 76,923 - - 1,200,000 1,276,923 
Bo Tan - - - - - 
Alex Ko - - - - - 
Michael Fry  - - - - - 

 246,060,534 - - - 247,260,534 
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I. Voting and comments made at the Company’s 2021 Annual General Meeting (AGM) 

At the Company’s 2021 AGM, a resolution to adopt the prior year remuneration report was put to a shareholder vote pursuant to 
the requirements of Section 250R92) of the Corporations Act 2001.  Key Management Personnel, and their Closely Related Party(s), 
were excluded from voting on the resolution.  97.79% of votes were cast against adoption of the resolution reflecting a first strike. 
Despite seeking feedback, no comments were received from shareholders with respect to the Company's overall remuneration, and 
its appropriateness to the Company’s circumstances. 

If 25% or more votes are cast against adoption of the remuneration report at the 2021 AGM, that will represent a second successive 
strike, and the Company will be required to put to Shareholders at the 2021 AGM a resolution proposing the calling of an 
extraordinary general meeting to consider the appointment of directors of the Company (Spill Resolution).  

If more than 50% of Shareholders vote in favour of the Spill Resolution, the Company must convene an extraordinary general meeting 
(Spill Meeting) within 90 days of the Company’s 2021 AGM. All Directors, other than the Company’s managing director will cease to 
hold office immediately before the end of the Spill Meeting but may stand for re-election at the Spill Meeting. Following the Spill 
Meeting, those persons whose election or re-election as Directors is approved will be the directors of the Company. 

J. Contractual Arrangements 

Non-Executive Directors 

Non-executive directors’ fees at the date of this report are as follows: 

Alice Wong   Chairperson of the Board $80,000 per annum 

William Hayden Non-Executive Director $50,000 per annum 
 Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee $4,000 per annum 
 Member of the Audit and Risk Committee $4,000 per annum 

Bo Tan Non-Executive Director $50,000 per annum 
 Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee $8,000 per annum 

Ricky Lau  Appointed 14 December 2020 
 Non-Executive Director $50,000 per annum 
 Chairperson of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee $7,000 per annum since 14 December 2020 

Alex Ko  Resigned 14 December 2020 
 Non-Executive Director $50,000 per annum 

Chairperson of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee $7,000 per annum prior to 14 December 
2020 

Executive Management 

Remuneration and other terms of employment for executive management are formalised in services agreements as set out below: 

Name Alistair Stephens 

Title Deputy Chairperson, Managing Director and CEO 

Start date 1 May 2013 

Current Agreement Commenced 1 August 2013 

Term of Agreement Agreement continues until terminated in accordance with employment contract  

Details: Base salary of $385,000 p.a. exclusive of superannuation 
Termination requires 5 weeks’ notice or the payment of 5 weeks ’salary in lieu of such notice. 
Eligible to participate in performance-based remuneration. 

 
Name Michael Fry 

Title Finance Manager and Company Secretary 

Start date 2 February 2015 

Current Agreement Commenced 1 November 2016 

Term of Agreement Agreement continues until terminated in accordance with employment contract 

Details: Fees of $264,000 p.a. 
Termination requires three months’ notice 

 

This is the end of the audited remuneration report. 
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 
 
 Directors Meetings Audit and Risk Committee  

Meetings 
Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee Meetings 
Directors Number 

Eligible to 
Attend 

Number 
Attended 

Number 
Eligible to 

Attend 

Number 
Attended 

Number 
Eligible to 

Attend 

Number 
Attended 

Alice Wong - - - - - - 
Alistair Stephens - - - - - - 
William Hayden - - - - - - 
Bo Tan - - - - - - 
Ricky Lau - - - - - - 
Alex Ko - - - - - - 
 
The Company’s executive has a weekly conference with the Chairperson. With members of the Board being updated by verbal and 
written communications as deemed necessary. Due to distance and differing time zones, and more recently the COVID-19 
pandemic, Board matters are resolved by way of circular resolution.   
 
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

No significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group have occurred since the start of the financial year to the date of this report. 

DIVIDENDS 

No amounts have been paid or declared by way of dividend during or since the end of the financial year. 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

The Group proposes to continue its exploration program and investment activities across its mineral industry interests.   

Whilst it is expected that delays will continue to occur, it is not expected that the Group will experience direct material financial 
impacts on its results should the COVID-19 pandemic continue without resolution in the short to medium term. 

AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years, except for the 
following: 

Grant of Large- Scale Mining Licence LM0216/21 

Globe’s wholly owned subsidiary, Globe Metals & Mining (Africa) Limited (GMMA) was granted Large Scale Mining Licence LM0216/21 
on 13 August 2021. LM0216/21 is valid for twenty-five (25) years and entitles GMMA the exclusive right to prospect for and mine 
minerals(s) in the licence area on the terms and conditions attaching to the licence.  The most material of these terms and conditions are 
listed below. 

The licencee shall: 
1. Pay annual charges prescribed under the Mines and Minerals (Mineral Rights) Regulations 1981 and mineral royalties in 

accordance with the Mines and Minerals Act. 
2. Have a right to mine and process pyrochlore  
3. Endeavour to give employment preferentially to citizens of Malawi 
4. Endeavour to procure goods and services produced and manufactured in Malawi provided that they can be obtained at 

competitive terms and in comparable quality. 
5. Submit reports to the Registrar of Mineral Tenements as required 
6. Comply with all conditions imposed under Part VIII of the Mines and Minerals Act (No. 8 of 2019). 

 
Pursuant to the Mines and Minerals Act, the Malawi Government is entitled to a 10% free equity interest, subject to formally notifying 
GMMA of its desire to take up its entitlement.  As at the date of this report, Globe or GMMA are yet to receive any such notice. 

Feasibility Study Results and Project Economics 

Also on 19 August 2021, Globe publicly released the results of its Feasibility Study and Project economics, with Globe advising that 
the Project had an expected capital cost of US$250 million, and was expected to generate US$5.6 billion over its 23-year mine life 
with a net present value of US$1 billion (pre-tax) at a discount rate of 8% per annum. 
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PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the 
Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purposes of taking responsibility on behalf of 
the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under section 237 of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 
AUDITOR 

Non-Audit Services 
No non-audit services were provided by Ernst & Young during the year or the prior year. 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the Ernst & Young for the provision of audit services are set out in note 20 to the financial 
Statements.  
 
 
INDEMNIFYING OFFICERS OR AUDITOR 

The Group has agreed to indemnify all the directors and executive officers for any costs or expenses that may be incurred in defending 
civil and criminal proceedings that may be brought against them in their capacity as directors and officers for which they may be held 
personally liable. 

The Group agreed to pay the annual insurance premium in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability and legal expenses, for directors, 
officers and employees of the Company. However, in accordance with normal commercial practice, the disclosure of the total amount 
of premiums and the nature of the liabilities covered by the insurance contract is prohibited by a confidentiality clause in the contract. 

To the extent permitted by law, the Group has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young as part of the terms of its engagement 
letter against any claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount). No payments were made during the year 
ended 30 June 2021 or subsequently. 
 
ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in financial/Directors’ report) Instrument 2016/191. Therefore, 
amounts in the directors’ report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar. 
 
AUDITORS INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 13. 
 
 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
 

 
 
 
ALISTAIR STEPHENS 
MANAGING DIRECTOR  

Dated this 28th day of September 2021  
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

GB:AJ:GMM:008 

Ernst & Young 
11 Mounts Bay Road 
Perth  WA  6000  Australia 
GPO Box M939   Perth  WA  6843 

 Tel: +61 8 9429 2222 
Fax: +61 8 9429 2436 
ey.com/au 

 

Auditor’s independence declaration to the directors of Globe Metals & 
Mining Limited 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Globe Metals & Mining Limited for the financial 

year ended 30 June 2021, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 

relation to the audit; and 

b. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Globe Metals & Mining Limited and the entities it controlled during the 

financial year. 

 

 

 

 

Ernst & Young 

 

 

 

 

Gavin Buckingham 

Partner 

28 September 2021 
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 Notes 30 June 
2021 

$’000 

30 June 
2020 

$’000 

    
Interest income 5 23 104 
Other Income  199 - 
Foreign exchange loss  (30) (50) 
Employee benefits expenses   (642) (633) 
Compliance and regulatory expenses   (160) (100) 
Occupancy expenses   (35) (50) 
Directors fees   (236) (269) 
Depreciation expense   11 (17) (13) 
Business Development  (1) (12) 
Travel expenses  (55) (56) 
Administrative expenses   (302) (341) 
Reversal of Provision for Foreign Tax  - 110 
Impairment loss on receivables  - (72) 
Other expenses  (122) (67) 

Loss before income tax  (1,378) (1,449) 
    

Income tax expense  - - 

    
Loss for the year    (1,378) (1,449) 

    
Other comprehensive loss after tax    
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss    
Changes in the fair value of investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income   

(16) 36 

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax  (16) 36 

 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  

 
(1,394) 

 
(1,413) 

    

  
Loss per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
company  Cents Cents 
Basic and diluted loss per share  26 (0.30) (0.31)  

 
 

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with 
accompanying notes. 
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 Note 30 June 2021 
$’000 

30 June 2020 
$’000 

    

CURRENT ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents 8 2,816 5,182 

Other receivables 9 57 81 

Other assets 10 104 119 

    

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  2,977 5,382 

    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 12 29,357 28,349 

Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income  52 68 

Plant and equipment 11 248 183 

Right of use asset  46 - 

    

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  29,703 28,600 

    

TOTAL ASSETS  32,680 33,982 

    

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 13 231 224 

Provisions 14 127 88 

Lease liability  24 - 

    

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  382 312 

    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Lease liability  22 - 

    

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABLITIES  22 - 

    

    

TOTAL LIABILITIES  404 312 

    

NET ASSETS  32,276 33,670 

    

EQUITY    
Contributed equity 
Financial assets reserve 

15 
 

80,753 
18 

80,753 
34 

Accumulated losses 16 (48,495) (47,117) 

    

TOTAL EQUITY  32,276 33,670 

 
 

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.
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   Contributed 

equity 
Accumulated 

losses 
Financial 

Assets Reserve 
Total 

   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

       

Consolidated        

Balance at 30 June 2019 

  

80,753 (45,668) (2) 35,083 

Loss for year   - (1,449) - (1,449) 

Other comprehensive income for the year   - - 36 36 

Total comprehensive loss for the year   - (1,449) 36 (1,413) 

Balance at 30 June 2020   80,753 (47,117) 34 33,670 

Balance at 30 June 2020 

  

80,753 (47,117) 34 33,670 

Loss for year   - (1,378) - (1,378) 

Other comprehensive loss for the year   - - (16) (16) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year   - (1,378) (16) (1,394) 

Balance at 30 June 2021   80,753 (48,495) 18 32,276 

    

 

  

 

 
 

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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 Note 30 June 2021 

$’000 
30 June 2020 

$’000 
    

Cash Flows from Operating Activities    

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of value added taxes)  (1,452) (1,503) 

Payments for business development activities  (1) (12) 

Interest received  23 104 

Proceeds from other income  199 50 

    

Net cash used in operating activities 25(a) (1,231) (1,361) 

    
Cash Flows from Investing Activities    

Purchase of plant & equipment  (82) (18) 

Payments for exploration and evaluation  (976) (776) 

    

Net cash used in investing activities  (1,058) (794) 

    
    

Net decrease in cash held  (2,289) (2,155) 
    

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  5,182 7,387 
    

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash  (77) (50) 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 8 2,816 5,182 

 
 

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The financial report of Globe Metals & Mining Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021 was authorised for issue in accordance with 
a resolution of directors on 29 September 2021. 

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Group in the preparation of the financial report.  The 
accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated. This financial report includes the consolidated financial 
statements and notes of Globe Metals & Mining Limited (‘Globe’ or ‘the Company’) and its controlled entities (‘Consolidated Entity’ 
or ‘Group’). Globe is a for-profit entity. 
 
a. Basis of Preparation  

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) 
and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate for profit-oriented entities. 

(i) Compliance with IFRS  
 The financial report of Globe Metals & Mining Limited and controlled entities also complies with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

(ii) New and amended standards adopted by the group  
None of the new standards and amendments to standards that are mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 
1 July 2020 affected any of the amounts recognised in the current year or any prior year. See Note 1(t) 

(iii) Historical Cost Convention 
The financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, with the exception of investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income which are measured at fair value. 

(iv) Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in 
note 3. 

 
b. Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2021. Control 
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the investee.  

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:  
➢ Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee)  
➢ Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee  
➢ The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns  

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and when the Group 
has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in 
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:  
➢ The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee  
➢ Rights arising from other contractual arrangements  
➢ The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights  

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or 
more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the 
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.  

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.  

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest 
and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised 
at fair value.  
 
c. Segment Reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. 
The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, 
has been identified as the board of directors. 
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
30 JUNE 2021  

 

 
 

Globe Metals & Mining Limited & Controlled Entities Annual Financial Report 2021                            19 

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

d. Foreign Currency Translation 

Functional and presentation currency 
The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
that entity operates, currently being the Australian Dollar for each of the entities. The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 

Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at 
historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value 
are reported at the exchange rate at the date when the fair values were determined. Exchange differences arising on the translation 
of monetary items are recognised in profit and loss for the year, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net 
investment hedge. 

 
e. Revenue Recognition 

Revenue is recognised in accordance with AASB 15, which establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts 
with customers and requires that revenue be recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to 
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.  

Interest income is recognised as the interest accrues at an effective interest rate. 
 
f. Reserves 

The reserve represents the gains and losses of investments at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
 
g. Income Tax 

Current Tax 
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or tax 
loss for the year. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. 
Current tax for current and prior years is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).  

Deferred Tax 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from differences between the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base of those items. 

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible temporary differences or unused 
tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences 
giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) which 
affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply to the year(s) when the asset and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the 
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Current and Deferred Taxation 
Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
except when it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in 
equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, in which case it is taken into account in the 
determination of goodwill or excess. The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on 
the assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the Company will derive 
sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by 
the law. 

h. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with 
an original maturity of three months or less. 

For the purposes of the Statement Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net 
of outstanding bank overdrafts.  
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

i. Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of acquiring licences, are capitalised as exploration and evaluation assets on an 
area of interest basis.  Exploration and evaluation assets are only recognised if the rights of interest are current and either: 

- the expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of interest; or 
- activities in the area of interest have not, at the reporting date, reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the 

existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area 
of interest are continuing. 

Costs incurred before the Group has obtained the legal rights to explore an area are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing 
to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest. 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of interest are demonstrable, 
exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are first tested for impairment and then reclassified from 
exploration and evaluation expenditure to mining property and development assets within property, plant and equipment and 
depreciated over the life of the mine. 

Impairment 
Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when any of the following facts and circumstances exists: 

- the term of the exploration licence in the specific area of interest has expired during the reporting year or will expire in the near 
future, and is not expected to be renewed; 

- substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area are not budgeted nor 
planned; 

- exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area of interest have not led to the discovery of commercially 
viable quantities of mineral resources and the decision was made to discontinue such activities in the specific area of interest; or 

- sufficient data exists to indicate that, although a development in the specific area of interest is likely to proceed, the carrying 
amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development or by sale. 

Where a potential impairment is indicated, an assessment is performed for each cash generating unit (“CGU”) which is no larger than 
the area of interest. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of the CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 

j. Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

Financial Assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss. The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends 
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception 
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, 
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or 
loss, transaction costs. In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured as amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows 
that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the 
SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for 
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under AASB 15. 

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. 
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or 
both. 

Subsequent measurement 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:  
- Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 
- Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments) 
- Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity 

instruments) 
- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 
This is the category of financial asset that is applicable to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both 
of the following conditions are met: 
- The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash 

flows and; 
- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

j. Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. 
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.  

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost includes cash, short-term deposits and other receivables. 

Financial assets designed at fair value through OCI (equity instruments).  
This is the category of financial asset that is applicable to the Group. Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify 
irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of  
equity under AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis.  

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in the 
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as 
a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at 
fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment.  The Group’s financial assets designed at fair value through OCI 
includes its equity investments under this category. 

Derecognition 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised 
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when: 

- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

- the Group has transferred has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group 
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it 
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The 
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has 
retained. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the 
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 

Impairment of financial assets 
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or 
loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will 
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. 

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-
month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss 
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a 
lifetime ECL). 

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not 
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has 
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to 
the debtors and the economic environment.  

Financial Liabilities  

Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, payables as 
appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of payables, net of directly attributable 
transaction costs. The Group’s financial liabilities only include trade and other payables. 

Subsequent measurement 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part 
of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. This category applies to trade and other 
payables. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

k. Plant and Equipment 

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  

The depreciable amount of all Motor vehicle and Leasehold assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives.  
Plant and equipment, Furniture and fittings and Software assets are depreciated using the diminishing value method. The 
depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets vary from 3% to 40% with the average rate being 30%. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  

The carrying amounts of plant and equipment are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  The recoverable amount of an asset or 
cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal.   

l. Leases   

(i) Right-of-use assets  

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for 
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-
measurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs 
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is 
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term (where the entity does not have a 
purchase option at the end of the lease term). Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.   

 
(ii) Lease Liabilities  

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to 
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease 
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual 
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the 
Group and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The 
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the year on which the event or 
condition that triggers the payment occurs.   
 
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date 
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.  
 
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the 
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the 
lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.  

 
(iii) Short-term leases and Low Value Assets  

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of their Office Spaces (i.e., those leases that 
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease 
of low-value assets recognition exemption (i.e. below $5,000). Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term.     

 

m. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) where, as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outlay of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement 
is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is 
presented in the statement of comprehensive income net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.  

 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
30 JUNE 2021  

 

 
 

Globe Metals & Mining Limited & Controlled Entities Annual Financial Report 2021                            23 

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

n. Employee Benefits 

Short-term obligations  
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months after the end of the year in which the employees render the related service are recognised in respect of employees’ 
services up to the end of the reporting year and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
The liability for annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All other short-term employee benefit obligations 
are presented as payables. 

Other long-term employee benefit obligations  
The liability for long service leave and annual leave which is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the year in 
which the employees render the related service is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present 
value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting year using 
the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and years of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting year on 
high quality corporate bonds with terms and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. The 
obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. 
 
Equity Settled Compensation 
The Group provides benefits to employees (including directors) of the Group in the form of share-based payment transactions, 
whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity-settled transaction”). 

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are 
granted. The fair value is determined by a valuation by using a Black-Scholes option pricing model and Monte Carlo option pricing 
model. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the year in which the 
performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award 
(“vesting date”). 

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the extent to 
which the vesting year has expired and (ii) the number of awards that, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, will ultimately 
vest. This opinion is formed based on the best available information at reporting date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of 
market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant 
date. 

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been 
modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as 
measured at the date of modification.  
 
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet 
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated 
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the 
original award, as described in the previous paragraph. 
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1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (CONTINUED) 
 
o. Contributed Equity 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in 
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.  

Where any group company purchases the company’s equity instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back or a share-
based payment plan, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted 
from equity attributable to the owners as treasury shares until the shares are cancelled or reissued. 

Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental 
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the owners. 
 
p. Earnings Per Share 

Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing: 
- the profit attributable to owners of the company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares 
- by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in 

ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares 

Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account: 
- after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and 
- weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive 

potential ordinary shares. 
 
q. Goods and Services Tax and other Value Added Taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST) and other Value Added Taxes 
(VAT), except where the amount of GST or VAT incurred is not recoverable from the applicable taxation authority.  In these 
circumstances, the GST and VAT are recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST and VAT. 

The net amount of GST or VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as a current asset or liability in the 
statement of financial position. 
 
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flow on a gross basis.  The GST and VAT components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authorities are classified as operating cash 
flows. 
 
r. Rounding of amounts 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in financial/Directors’ report) Instrument 2016/191. Therefore, 
amounts in the directors’ report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar. 

 
s. Parent entity financial information 

The financial information for the parent entity, Globe Metals and Mining Limited, disclosed in note 28 has been prepared on the 
same basis as the consolidated financial statements, except as set out below. 

(i) Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities 
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of Globe Metals 
and Mining Limited. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

t. Changes in accounting policies and disclosure    

 
New and amended standards and interpretations 
Amendments and interpretations apply for the first time as of 1 July 2020 do not have an impact on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group. The Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that have been issued but 
are not yet effective.  
 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those applied by the Group in the preparation of the annual consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021. 

Standards issued but not yet effective 

Amendments to AASB101: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current  

In January 2020, the AASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of AASB 101 to specify the requirements for classifying liabilities 
as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:   

• What is meant by a right to defer settlement  

• That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period  

• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right  

• That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact 
its classification   

 
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be applied retrospectively. 
The Group is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current practice. 
 
Reference to the Conceptual Framework – Amendment to AASB 3 Business Combination 

In March 2020, the AASB issued Amendments to AASB 3 Business Combinations - Reference to the Conceptual Framework. The 
amendments are intended to replace a reference to the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, 
issued in 1989, with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly 
changing its requirements.  
 
The Board also added an exception to the recognition principle of AASB 3 to avoid the issue of potential ‘day 2’ gains or losses arising 
for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of AASB 137 or AASB Interpretation 21 Levies, if incurred 
separately.  At the same time, the Board decided to clarify existing guidance in AASB 3 for contingent assets that would not be 
affected by replacing the reference to the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements.  
 
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and apply prospectively. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use – Amendments to AASB 116  

In June 2020, the AASB issued amendments to AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use, which 
prohibits entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds from selling items produced 
while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing those items, in profit or 
loss.  
 
The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must be applied retrospectively 
to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented when 
the entity first applies the amendment.  
 
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group. 
 
Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract – Amendments to AASB 137  
In June 2020, the AASB issued amendments to AASB 137 to specify which costs an entity needs to include when assessing whether a 
contract is onerous or loss-making.  
 
The amendments apply a “directly related cost approach”. The costs that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or services 
include both incremental costs and an allocation of costs directly related to contract activities. General and administrative costs do 
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.  
 
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The Group will apply these 
amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which 
it first applies the amendments.  
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

t. Changes in accounting policies and disclosure     

 
Standards issued but not yet effective (CONTINUED) 

 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 – Amendments to AASB 9, AASB 139, AASB 7, AASB 4 and AASB 16  
In September 2020, the AASB published Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2, Amendments to AASB 9, AASB 139, AASB 7, AASB 
4 and AASB 16. The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when an interbank offered 
rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR).  
 
The amendments include a practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash flows that are directly required by 
the reform, to be treated as changes to a floating interest rate, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest. Inherent in 
allowing the use of this practical expedient is the requirement that the transition from an IBOR benchmark rate to an RFR takes place 
on an economically equivalent basis with no value transfer having occurred.  
 
Any other changes made at the same time, such as a change in the credit spread or maturity date, are assessed. If they are substantial, 
the instrument is derecognised. If they are not substantial, the updated effective interest rate (EIR) is used to recalculate the carrying 
amount of the financial instrument, with any modification gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.  
 
The Group has limited exposure to benchmark interest rates and is finalising its assessment of the impact of these amendments. 

 
u. Going concern 

 
The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal business activity 
and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.  
 
As at 30 June 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of $2.816 million and had net working capital of $2.595 million.  The 
Group incurred a loss for the year ended 30 June 2021 of $1.378 million (30 June 2020: $1.449 million loss) and net cash outflows 
used in operating activities and investing activities totalling $2.289 million (30 June 2020: $2.155 million). The Group’s cashflow 
forecasts reflect that the Group will be required to raise additional working capital within the next 12 month period to enable it 
to continue to progress the financing and development of the Kanyika Project. 
 
The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent on the Group securing additional debt and/or equity funding 
to meet its working capital requirements in the next 12 months. These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty 
that may cast a significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, that it may be unable 
to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 
 
At the date of this report, the directors are satisfied there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to 
continue its planned operations and the Group will be able to meet its obligations as and when they fall due, for the following 
reasons: 
• the Company has post year end been issued with a Large -Scale Mining Licence for the Kanyika Project which gives it 

guaranteed tenure.  This is a significant milestone for Globe and increases the project’s value; and 
• the Directors are of the opinion that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate as they are 

confident in the ability of the Group to be successful in securing additional funds through debt or equity issues as and 
when the need to raise working capital arises. 
 

Should the Group not be able to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities other 
than in the ordinary course of business, and at amounts that differ from those stated in the financial statements. The financial report 
does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or liabilities that might 
be necessary should the Group not continue as a going concern and meet its debts as and when they become due and payable. 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of cash. The Group also has other financial instruments such as other receivables 
and creditors, which arise directly from its operations, and investments at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

Capital Risk Management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can provide returns 
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends, return capital to shareholders, 
issue/buy-back shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The Group would look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or company was seen as value adding relative to 
the current parent entity’s share price at the time of investment. The Group is not currently pursuing additional investments in the 
short term as it continues to integrate and grow its existing businesses in order to maximise synergies. 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments and the Group’s policies for managing these risks are summarised 
below: 

Interest Rate Risk 

The Group does not have long-term cash deposits or debt, and therefore this risk is minimal.  An analysis by maturities is provided in 
(i) below. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.  The 
Group entity has adopted the policy of only dealing with credit worthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral or other 
security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. 

The credit risk on financial assets of the Group is reflected in those assets' carrying amount net of any provisions for impairment. 

The Group currently holds majority of its cash and cash equivalents with National Australia Bank with a credit rating of Aa3. The 
Group believes the credit risk exposure is negligible given the strong credit rating of the counterparty. 

Foreign currency risk 
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies arising from the sale and purchase of goods and services in currencies 
other than the Group’s functional currency.  The majority of expenses incurred are in AUD and therefore risk is not significant. 
Monetary assets and liabilities of the Group denominated in foreign currencies are not material to the Group. 

Concentration risk 
The parent entity is exposed to concentration risk due to 87% of its cash and cash equivalents being held within the one financial 
institution – National Australia Bank.  The Group manages this risk through monitoring of the credit rating of the institution. 

Liquidity risk 
The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate short-term cash facilities are 
maintained.  At the end of the year the group held deposits at call of $2.816 million (2020: $5.182 million) which are expected to 
readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk. 

 
(i) Interest rate and liquidity risk exposures 
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate for each class of financial assets and 
financial liabilities is set out in the following table: 

  Fixed interest maturing in   
2021 Floating 

interest 
rate 

1 year or 
less 

Over 1 
year less 

than 5 

More 
than 5 
years 

Non-Interest 
bearing 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Financial Assets       
Cash at bank 816 2,000 - - - 2,816 
Trade & other receivables - - - - 57 57 
Investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income - - - - 52 52 
Other assets - - - - 43 43 

 816 2,000 - - 152 2,968 

Weighted Average Interest Rate 0.01% 0.27% - -   
*Trade & other creditors  
**Lease liability - - - - 

(231) 
(46) 

(231) 
(46) 

 - - - - (277) (277) 

       
Net financial assets  816 2,000 - - (125) 2,691 

*To be settled within 30 - 60 days 
**50% to be settled within 12 months, balance within 2 years  
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
     
  Fixed interest maturing in   
2020 Floating 

interest 
rate 

1 year or 
less 

Over 1 
year less 

than 5 

More 
than 5 
years 

Non-Interest 
bearing 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Financial Assets       
Cash at bank 682 4,500 - - - 5,182 
Trade & other receivables - - - - 81 81 
investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income - - - - 68 68 
Other assets - - - - 56 56 

 682 4,500 - - 205 5,387 

Weighted Average Interest Rate 0.01% 0.85% - -   

Trade & other creditors*  - - - - (224) (224) 

 - - - - (224) (224) 

Weighted Average Interest Rate - - - -   

       
Net financial assets / (liabilities) 682 4,500 - - (19) 5,163 

*To be settled within 30 – 60 days       
       
       
 
Sensitivity analysis 

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis in relation to interest income and movements in interest rates on financial assets 
and liabilities. The analysis highlights the effect on the current year’s pre-tax loss which would have resulted from movement in 
interest rates with all other variables remaining constant. 
 

 Consolidated 

 2021 2020 

 $’000 $’000 

Change in loss   
- increase in interest rate by 0.5% (15) (27) 
- decrease in interest rate by 0.5% 15 27 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(ii) Interest rate and liquidity risk exposures (CONTINUED) 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole, as follows: 

➢ Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
➢ Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly 

or indirectly observable 
➢ Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurements is 

unobservable 

For all asset and liabilities that are recognised at fair value on recurring basis, the group determines whether transfers have occurred 
between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting year. 

The valuation of investments at fair value through other comprehensive income are based on the equity share price in the listed 
stock exchange (Level one fair value hierarchy). 

 

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS  

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements and estimates relating to the carrying amounts 
of certain assets and liabilities.  Actual results may differ from the estimates made.  Estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. 

The key estimates and assumptions as have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain 
assets and liabilities within the next accounting year are: 

(i) Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
The Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure results in expenditure being capitalised for an area of 
interest where it is considered likely to be recoverable by future exploitation or sale or where the activities have not reached a stage 
which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves. This policy requires management to make certain assumptions 
as to future events and circumstances, in particular whether an economically viable extraction operation can be established. Any 
such estimates and assumptions may change as new information becomes available. If, after having capitalised the expenditure under 
the policy, a judgement is made that recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the relevant capitalised amount will be written off to 
profit and loss. Refer to note 12 for details of the judgement applied in the current year in relation to exploration and evaluation 
expenditure. 
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION  

The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of 
Directors to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segments and assess their performance. 

The Group has two reportable segments which are based on the stage of development of its projects, which are broadly in either 
of two groups: those in the exploration phase or those in the evaluation stage.  Unallocated results, assets and liabilities represent 
corporate amounts that are not core to the reportable segments. 

Prior year information may be restated to reflect the current composition of reportable segments. 
 
Activity by segment 

Africa-Kanyika 
The Africa-Kanyika segment includes the Kanyika Niobium Project in Malawi which comprises AML0026 and which is host to a 
2012 JORC compliant Mineral Resource Estimate of 68.3Mt @ 2,830ppm Nb2O5 (niobium pentoxide) and 135ppm Ta5O5 (tantalum 
pentoxide) at a 1,500 ppm Nb2O5 cut-off.  

The Kanyika Niobium Project is currently at the evaluation stage. 
 
Africa-Exploration 
The Africa-Exploration segment includes the exploration prospecting licence EPL0421/15 which lies adjacent to AML0026.  
Limited early-stage exploration activity has been conducted on EPL0421/15 with no mineral resources having been defined; as 
such it is at the exploration stage: 

 

2021 Africa-Kanyika 
Africa-

Exploration Total 

(i) Segment performance $’000 $’000 $’000 

year ended 30 June 2021    

Revenue - - - 

Segment revenue - - - 

Segment loss (197) (54) (251) 

 
Reconciliation of segment result to group net loss before tax    

Other income   222 

Other corporate expenses   (1,349) 

Net loss before tax from continuing operations   (1,378) 

(ii) Segment assets    

as at 30 June 2021    

Exploration expenditure 29,357 - 29,357 

Plant and equipment 23 135 158 

Other assets 59 76 135 

Total Segment Assets 29,439 211 29,650 

 
Reconciliation of segment assets to group assets    

Other corporate assets   3,030 

Total group assets   32,680 

(iii) Segment liabilities    

as at 30 June 2021    

Trade Creditors and Accruals 45 54 99 

Total Segment liabilities 45 54 99 

 
Reconciliation of segment liabilities to group liabilities   

 

Trade Creditors and Accruals   132 

Lease liability    46 

Provisions   127 

Total group liabilities   404 
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

2020  Africa-Kanyika 
Africa-

Exploration Total 

(i) Segment performance  $’000 $’000 $’000 

year ended 30 June 2020     

Revenue  - - - 

Segment revenue  - - - 

Segment loss  (264) 32 (232) 

 
Reconciliation of segment result to group net loss before tax     

Other income    104 

Other corporate expenses    (1,321) 

Net loss before tax from continuing operations    (1,449) 

     

(ii) Segment assets     

as at 30 June 2020     

Exploration expenditure  28,349 - 28,349 

Plant and equipment  22 135 157 

Other assets  53 81 134 

Total Segment Assets  28,424 216 28,640 

 
Reconciliation of segment assets to group assets     

Other corporate assets    5,342 

Total group assets    33,982 

 

(iii) Segment liabilities     

as at 30 June 2020     

Trade Creditors and Accruals  31 67 98 

Total Segment liabilities  31 67 98 

 
Reconciliation of segment liabilities to group liabilities    

 

Trade Creditors and Accruals    126 

Provisions    88 

Total group liabilities    312 

 
 The Group operated in two geographical segments, being Australia and Africa, and in one industry, minerals mining and exploration. 

 
Geographical Information  

 Consolidated 

 
 
Total non-current assets of: 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Australia 121 95 
Africa 29,582 28,505 

Total 29,703 28,600 

 
 Consolidated 

 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

5. INCOME    

Interest income   

- Interest received and receivable 23 104 

 23 104 
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 Consolidated 

 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

6. EXPENSES   
Loss from operations before income tax has been determined after the following 
items:    

   

Consultant fee 264 264 

Lease expenses (a)  30 38 

Superannuation expenses 48 43 

Business development 1 12 

Depreciation 17 13 

Foreign exchange loss 30 50 

   

Finance Costs   

- Bank Charges 5 4 

 395 424 

    
(a) The expense is relating to short-term leases with a lease term of less than 12 months. 

 
 

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
 
a. The components of tax expense comprise:   
 Current tax  - - 
 Deferred tax  - - 

  - - 

    
b. Deferred income tax/(revenue)   
 Deferred income tax/(revenue) included in tax expense comprises:   
 Increase in deferred tax assets - - 
 Increase in deferred tax liabilities - - 

  - - 

    
c. The prima facie tax benefit on loss from ordinary activities before income 

tax is reconciled to the income tax as follows: 
  

 Loss before income tax 1,378 1,449 

 Prima facie tax benefit on loss from 
ordinary activities before income tax at 30%  
(2020: 30%)  413 435 

 - Deferred tax assets not recognised (413) (435) 

  - - 

    
The tax benefits of the deferred tax assets will only be obtained if: 
(a) the Group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefits to be 

utilised; 
(b) the Group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by law; and 
(c) no changes in income tax legislation adversely affect the Group in utilising the benefits.  
 

d. Deferred tax assets /(liabilities) comprise:    
 Trade & other payables 

Provision 
 

39 
38 

 

28 
29 

 
 Tax losses available for offset against future taxable income 9,970 9,621 

 Net deferred tax assets 10,047 9,678 
 Deferred tax assets not recognised (10,047) (9,678) 

  - - 

 
The tax losses that arose in Malawi are available for a period of up to six years for offsetting against future taxable 
profits of the Group in which the losses arose. 
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 Consolidated 

 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
 

8.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TERM DEPOSITS   

Cash at bank 2,816 5,182 

 2,816 5,182 

 
 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and credit risk is discussed in note 2.  The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end 
of the reporting year is the carrying amount of each class of cash and cash equivalents mentioned above. 
 
 

 Consolidated 

 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

9.  OTHER RECEIVABLES   

Current   

GST Receivable 29 31 

VAT Receivable 11 30 

Other Tax Receivable 17 20 

 57 81 

   
Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.  The 
group’s impairment and other accounting policies for other receivables are outlined in note 1(j). 

Information about the group’s exposure to credit risk, foreign exchange and interest rate risk is provided in note 2. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting year is the carrying amount of each class of financial asset mentioned above. 
 
 
 Consolidated 

 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

10. OTHER ASSETS   

Current   

Prepayments 61 63 

Accrued Interest - 3 

Security Deposits  34 44 

Other 9 9 

 104 119 
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 Consolidated 

 
 
     

Plant & 
Equipment 

 
Other 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

11. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT    

    
Year ended 30 June 2021    
Opening net book amount 124 59 183 
Additions 79 3 82 
Depreciation charge (15) (2) (17) 

Closing net book amount 188 60 248 

    
At 30 June 2021    
Cost  741 152 893 
Accumulated depreciation (553) (92) (645) 

Net book value 188 60 248 

 
Year ended 30 June 2020    
Opening net book amount 116 62 178 
Disposals 18 - 18 
Depreciation charge (10) (3) (13) 

Closing net book amount 124 59 183 

    
At 30 June 2020    
Cost  661 149 810 
Accumulated depreciation (537) (90) (627) 

Net book value 124 59 183 
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 Consolidated 

 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

12. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE   

Non-Current   
Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in:   
Exploration and evaluation phases – at cost 29,357 28,349 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure total 29,357 28,349 

   
   comprising: 

Kanyika Niobium Project 29,357 28,349 

Total exploration and evaluation phases – at cost 29,357 28,349 

 

Opening balance 28,349 27,956 
Exploration expenditure capitalised during the year 1,008 544 
Reversal of amounts previously provided for relating to Foreign Tax - (151) 

At reporting date 29,357 28,349 

 

 
 
Kanyika Niobium Project 
The Directors have considered the requirements of AASB 6: Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources, and have reviewed 
the carrying value of exploration and evaluation expenditures that relate to the Kanyika Niobium Project.  Based on the review, the 
directors consider the carrying value of the Kanyika Niobium Project is supported by the anticipated future value.  Furthermore, there 
are no indications that the carrying value of the Kanyika Niobium Project was impaired at 30 June 2021.   
 
Other 
The value of the Group’s interest in exploration expenditure is dependent upon: 

- the continuance of the consolidated entity’s rights to tenure of the areas of interest; 
- the results of future exploration; and 
- the recoupment of costs through successful development and exploitation of the areas of interest, or alternatively, by their 

sale. 
- no significant changes in laws and regulations that greatly impact the company’s ability to maintain tenure. 

The Group’s exploration properties may be subjected to claim(s) under native title, or contain sacred sites, or sites of significance to 
indigenous people.  As a result, exploration properties or areas within the tenements may be subject to exploration restrictions, 
mining restrictions and/or claims for compensation.  At this time, there has not been any material claims made to the Group.  

COVID-19 Pandemic 
Whilst the COVID-19 pandemic has caused delay in relation to the progress of the Kanyika Project it has not caused any direct material 
financial effect on the carrying value of exploration and evaluation expenditure. 

And whilst potential exists for future progress at the Kanyika Project to be impacted due to the COVID-19 situation facing Malawi 
with the delta strain prevalent and the number of ill and deceased having increased significantly in recent times, it is unlikely to have 
direct material financial effect on the carrying value of exploration and evaluation expenditure. 

 
 Consolidated 

 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES   

Current   

Trade creditors 21 62 
Other creditors and accruals 210 162 

 231 224 

 
Non-interest bearing liabilities are predominantly settled within 30 days. 
 
Due to the fact that trade and other payables are current, their carrying amount approximates fair value. 
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 Consolidated 

 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

14. PROVISIONS   

Current   

Employee benefit provisions 127 88 

 127 88 

 
 
 Consolidated 

 
  2021 2020 

 $’000 Number $’000 Number 

15. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 
 

    

Fully paid ordinary shares 80,753 465,922,373 80,753 465,922,373 

 80,753 465,922,373 80,753 465,922,373 

 
 
Movements in fully paid ordinary shares on issue are as follows: 
 
 Consolidated 

 
  2021 2020 

 $’000 Number $’000 Number 

Fully paid ordinary shares at beginning of 
reporting year 80,753 465,922,373 80,753 465,922,373 

Balance at the end of reporting year 80,753 465,922,373 80,753 465,922,373 

 
(a) Management of Share Capital  

The Directors primary objectivity is to maintain a capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to the Group.  At 
reporting date, the Group has no external borrowings. 

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

Capital Risk Management 
The consolidated entity’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure to reduce the cost 
of capital. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the consolidated entity may adjust the amount of dividends, return capital to 
shareholders, issue/buy-back shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The consolidated entity would look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or company was seen as value adding 
relative to the current parent entity’s share price at the time of investment. The consolidated entity is not currently pursuing 
additional investments in the short term as it continues to integrate and grow its existing businesses in order to maximise synergies. 

The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from the 30 June 2020 annual report. 

(b) Terms of Ordinary Shares 

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of shares held 
and in proportion to the amount paid up on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value. 

At shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote in proportion to the paid up amount of the share when a poll is 
called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 

At the end of reporting year, there are 465,922,373 shares on issue. 
 
(c) Terms of Options 

At the end of reporting year, there were no options over unissued shares. 
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 Consolidated 

 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

16. ACCUMULATED LOSSES   

    (a) Accumulated losses   

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year (47,117) (45,668) 
Net loss attributable to shareholders (1,378) (1,449) 

Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year (48,495) (47,117) 

 
 

17. INTERESTS IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
  
Controlled entities consolidated   
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and the results of the following subsidiaries in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in note 1(a): 
 

Name Country of 
Incorporation 

Principal Activities Class of 
Shares 

Equity Holding * 
 

    2021 2020 
Globe Metals & Mining UK Corporation UK Dormant  Ordinary 100% 100% 
Globe Uranium (Argentina) S.A. Argentina Dormant Ordinary 100% 100% 
Globe Metals & Mining (Africa) Limited Malawi Holds Kanyika Project  Ordinary 100% 100% 
Globe Metals & Mining Mozambique Limitada Mozambique Dormant Ordinary 100% 100% 
Globe Metals & Mining (Exploration) Limited Malawi Holder of exploration tenements Ordinary 100% 100% 
Globe Metals & Mining Investment Hong Kong Dormant Ordinary 100% 100% 
Appium Limited Hong Kong Holder of IP patents Ordinary 100% 100% 

* Percentage of voting power is in proportion to ownership. 
 
 

18. DIVIDENDS PAID OR PROVIDED FOR ON ORDINARY SHARES 

No dividends were paid during the year. No recommendation for payment of dividends has been made.  

 
 

19. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 

(a) Details of key management personnel 

The following persons were key management personnel of Globe Metals & Mining Limited during the financial year: 

Alice Wong  Non-Executive Chairperson 
Alistair Stephens   Managing Director and CEO 
William Hayden   Non-Executive Director 
Bo Tan    Non-Executive Director 
Ricky Lau    Non-Executive Director (Appointed on 14 December 2020) 
Alex Ko    Non-Executive Director (Resigned on 14 December 2020) 
Michael Fry    Finance Manager and Company Secretary 
 

(b) Remuneration of key management personnel  

 Consolidated 
 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Short term employee benefits 899,389 956,200 

Post-employment 
Long term employee benefits 

47,457 
48,564 

26,035 
36,099 

 995,410 1,018,334 

 
Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration report on pages 8 to 12. 
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(c)  Loans to key management personnel 
There were no outstanding unsecured loans to Key management personnel at 30 June 2021 (2020: Nil). 

 
(d)  Other transactions with key management personnel 

There were no other transactions with Key Management Personnel during the year ended 30 June 2021 or in existence at  
30 June 2021 (2020: Nil). 

 
 Consolidated 

 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 

20. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION   
 
Fees to Ernst & Young (Australia)   

- Fees for auditing the statutory financial report of the parent covering the group and 
auditing the statutory financial reports of any controlled entities 63,075 63,075 

Total fees to Ernst & Young (Australia) (A)  63,075 63,075 

Fees to other overseas member firms of Ernst & Young (Australia)   

- Fees for auditing the financial report of any controlled entities  30,533 30,533 

Total fees to overseas member firms of Ernst & Young (Australia) (B)   

Total auditor’s remuneration (A) + (B) 93,608 93,608 

 
21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 
In the opinion of the directors there were no contingent liabilities at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: nil), and the interval between 
30 June 2021 and the date of this report. 

 
22. COMMITMENTS 

(a) Exploration commitments 
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to mining tenements, the Group has the following exploration expenditure requirements 
up until expiry of tenements.  These obligations, which are subject to renegotiation upon expiry of the tenements, are not provided 
for in the financial statements and are payable: 
 Consolidated 

 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
 
Not longer than one year 161 116 

Longer than one year, but not longer than five years - 249 

 161 365 

 
If the Group decides to relinquish certain leases and/or does not meet these obligations, assets recognised in the statement of 
financial position may require review to determine the appropriateness of carrying values.  The sale, transfer or farm-out of 
exploration rights to third parties will reduce or extinguish these obligations. 
 
b) Lease expenditure commitments  
 
                            Consolidated 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Not longer than one year 43 49 

Longer than one year, but not longer than five years - - 

Longer than five years - - 

  43 49 

 
Lease expenses relate to the leases for office and staff accommodation in Malawi where the lease arrangement is less than a year.  
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23. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

(a)  Parent entity 
The ultimate parent entity of the Group is Globe Metals & Mining Limited. 

(b)  Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 19. 

(c)       Other related party transactions: 
Nil. 

 

 24. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which have significantly affected or may significantly 
affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years, except 
for the following: 
 
Grant of Large- Scale Mining Licence LM0216/21 

Globe’s wholly owned subsidiary, Globe Metals & Mining (Africa) Limited (GMMA) was granted Large Scale Mining Licence 
LM0216/21 on 13 August 2021. LM0216/21 is valid for twenty-five (25) years and entitles GMMA the exclusive right to prospect for 
and mine minerals(s) in the licence area on the terms and conditions attaching to the licence.  The most material of these terms and 
conditions are listed below. 

The licencee shall: 
1. Pay annual charges prescribed under the Mines and Minerals (Mineral Rights) Regulations 1981 and mineral royalties in 

accordance with the Mines and Minerals Act. 
2. Have a right to mine and process pyrochlore  
3. Endeavour to give employment preferentially to citizens of Malawi 
4. Endeavour to procure goods and services produced and manufactured in Malawi provided that they can be obtained at 

competitive terms and in comparable quality. 
5. Submit reports to the Registrar of Mineral Tenements as required 
6. Comply with all conditions imposed under Part VIII of the Mines and Minerals Act (No. 8 of 2019). 

Pursuant to the Mines and Minerals Act, the Malawi Government is entitled to a 10% free equity interest, subject to formally 
notifying GMMA of its desire to take up its entitlement.  As at the date of this report, Globe or GMMA are yet to receive any such 
notice. 

Feasibility Study Results and Project Economics 

Also on 19 August 2021, Globe publicly released the results of its Feasibility Study and Project economics, with Globe advising 
that the Project had an expected capital cost of US$250 million, and was expected to generate US$5.6 billion over its 23-year 
mine life with a net present value of US$1 billion (pre-tax) at a discount rate of 8% per annum. 
 
 
 Consolidated 

 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

25. RECONCILIATION OF LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TO  
NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

(a) Reconciliation of cash flow used in operations with loss after tax   
- Loss after income tax (1,378) (1,449) 

Non-cash flows in loss from operations   
- Depreciation 17 13 

Changes in assets and liabilities   
- Increase / (Decrease) in receivables and other current assets 30 (233) 
- Increase / (Decrease) in trade and other payables and provisions 100 308 

   
Net cash outflows from operating activities (1,231) (1,361) 

    
 
(b) Non-cash investing and financing activities     

There were no non-cash investing and financing activities during the year and 2020. 
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 Consolidated 

 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

26. LOSS  PER SHARE   
(a) Loss used in the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share (1,378) (1,449) 

   

 Number of 
Shares 

Number of 
Shares 

(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during  
the year used in the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share: 465,922,373 465,922,373 

 
Options on issue have not been included in the Earning per Share calculation as they are anti-dilutive.   
 
Note the total number of options as at 30 June 2021 is nil (2020: nil). 

 
 
 Consolidated 

 
 2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

27. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS   

Options (a) - - 

 - - 

 
There are options issued to employees as part of their compensation under the company’s employee share option policies.  
Options are independently valued by corporate advisers using the Black-Scholes option pricing method and Monte Carlo option 
pricing model. Options were granted subject to the attainment of performance and/or employment continuity criteria. All options 
vested two years before expiry. 
 
No movement in options on issue for the reporting year ended 30 June 2021. 
 

(a) Movements in options on issue 2020: 
 

Grant Date Expiry Date 
Exercise 

Price 

Balance at 
start of the 

year 

Granted 
during the 

year 

Exercised 
during the 

year 

Lapsed 
during the 

year 
Balance at 

30 June 
2020 

Vested and 
exercisable 

at end of 
the year 

Number Number Number Number Number 

         
2/07/2013 30/06/2020 $0.250 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - - 

      1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - - 

Weighted average exercise price $0.25 - - $0.25 - - 

 

 
Compensation options granted during the year ended 30 June 2021 
There were no compensation options granted during the year ended 30 June 2021. 

 
Compensation options granted during the year ended 30 June 2020 
There were no compensation options granted during the year ended 30 June 2020. 
 

Options Cancelled/Lapsed 
Nil options lapsed during the reporting year ended 30 June 2021 (2020: 1,000,000). 

Options Exercised 
No options were exercised during the reporting year ended 30 June 2021 (2020: Nil). 
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 Parent 

    

 2021 2020 

 $'000 $'000 

28. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION  
 

  

Statement of comprehensive income 
Profit after income tax 1,099 4,111 

Other comprehensive income 16 36 

Total comprehensive income 1,115 4,147 

   
Statement of financial position   

Total current assets 2,715 5,092 

Total assets 12,636 11,440 

Total current liabilities 249 192 

Total liabilities 271 192 

Net assets 12,365 11,248 

   
Equity   
Contributed equity 80,753 80,753 
Financial assets reserve (18) (34) 

Accumulated losses (68,370) (69,471) 

Total equity 12,365 11,248 

 

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity  

The parent entity had no guarantees as of 30 June 2021 or 30 June 2020.  

Contingent liabilities 

The parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021 or 30 June 2020.  

Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment 

The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2021 or 30 June 2020.  

Significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as disclosed in note 1, except for the 
following: 

- Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

 
 
In the directors’ opinion: 
 

a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 14 to 41 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 
(i) complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001, and 
 
(ii) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its performance for the 
financial year ended on that date, and 
 

b) subject to the matters set out in Note 1(u) to the financial report, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company 
will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 
 
 

Note 1(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001.  
 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 
 
 

 
 
ALISTAIR STEPHENS 
MANAGING DIRECTOR 
 
Dated 28th day of September 2021 
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

GB:AJ:GMM:007 

Ernst & Young 
11 Mounts Bay Road 
Perth  WA  6000  Australia 
GPO Box M939   Perth  WA  6843 

 Tel: +61 8 9429 2222 
Fax: +61 8 9429 2436 
ey.com/au 

 

Independent auditor's report to the members of Globe Metals & Mining 
Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Globe Metals & Mining Limited (the Company) and its 

subsidiaries (collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position 

as at 30 June 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 

the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 

year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies, and the directors' declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, including: 

a. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 

2021 and of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 

Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 

independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 

Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 

financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 1(u) in the financial report, which describes the principal conditions that 

raise doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. These events or conditions 

indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
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Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of 

our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide 

a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty 

related to going concern section, we have determined the matter described below to be the key audit 

matter to be communicated in our report. For the matter below, our description of how our audit 

addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 

Financial Report section of our report, including in relation to this matter. Accordingly, our audit 

included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the 

procedures performed to address the matter below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the 

accompanying financial report. 

Carrying value of capitalised exploration and evaluation  

Why significant  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As disclosed in Note 12 to the financial report, as at 
30 June 2021, the Group held capitalised exploration 
and evaluation expenditure assets of $29,357,000. 

The carrying value of exploration and evaluation 
expenditure is assessed for impairment by the Group 
when facts and circumstances indicate that the 
exploration and evaluation expenditure may exceed 
its recoverable amount.   

The determination as to whether there are any 
indicators to require an exploration and evaluation 
asset to be assessed for impairment, involves a 
number of judgments including whether the Group 
has tenure, will be able to perform ongoing 
expenditure and whether there is sufficient 
information for a decision to be made that the area 
of interest is not commercially viable. During the 
year the Group determined that there had been no 
indicators of impairment. 

Given the size of the balance and the judgmental 
nature of impairment indicator assessments 
associated with exploration and evaluation assets, 
we consider this a key audit matter. 

We evaluated the Group’s assessment as to whether 
there were any indicators of impairment to require 
the carrying value of exploration and evaluation 
assets to be tested for impairment. In performing our 
audit procedures, we: 

► Considered the Group’s right to explore in the 
relevant exploration area which included 
obtaining and assessing supporting 
documentation such as licence agreements. 

► Considered the Group’s intention to carry out 
exploration and evaluation activity in the relevant 
exploration area which included an assessment of 
the Group’s cash-flow forecast provided for 
expenditure for planned exploration and 
evaluation activities, and enquiring with senior 
management and Directors as to the intentions 
and strategy of the Group. 

► Considered the Group’s assessment of whether  
the commercial viability of extracting mineral  
resources had been demonstrated and whether it  
was appropriate to continue to classify the  
capitalised expenditure for the area of interest as  
an exploration and evaluation asset.  

► Considered whether there was any other data or  
information that indicated the carrying value of  
the capitalised exploration and evaluation 
expenditure would not be recovered in full from 
successful development or by sale.  

► Assessed the adequacy of the disclosure in Note 
12 to the financial report. 
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Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the Company’s 2021 Annual Report, but does not include the financial report 

and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report 

and our related assurance opinion. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 

report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 

true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 

financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 

if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control. 

► Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

► Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

► Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 

events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 

our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 

to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group 

to cease to continue as a going concern.  

► Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

► Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 

or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are 

responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 

responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 

taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 
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From the matters communicated to the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 

should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on the audit of the remuneration report 

Opinion on the remuneration report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors' report for the year ended 30 

June 2021. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Globe Metals & Mining Limited for the year ended 30 June 

2021, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 

Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 

accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 

 

 

 

Ernst & Young 

 

 

 

 

Gavin Buckingham 

Partner 

Perth 

28 September 2021 
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